No. 71360-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENT L. and LINDA DAVIS; JEFFREY and SUSAN TRININ; and
SUSAN MAYER, derivatively on behalf of OLYMPIA FOOD
COOPERATIVE,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs Below,

v.

GRACE COX; ROCHELLE GAUSE; ERIN GENIA; T.J. JOHNSON;
JAYNE KASZYNSKI; JACKIE KRZYZEK; JESSICAN LAING; RON
LAVIGNE; HARRY LEVINE; ERIC MAPES; JOHN NASON; JOHN
REGAN; ROB RICHARDS; SUZANNE SHAFER; JULIA SOKOLOFF;
and JOELLEN REINECK WILHELM,

Respondents/Defendants Below.

ERRATA *Amended*
APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

One Union Square
600 University, 27th Fl.
Seattle, WA 98101-3143
(206) 467-1816

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT &
HELGREN PLLC

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Kent and Linda Davis, Jeffrey and Susan Trinin, and Susan Mayer, derivatively on behalf of Olympia Food Cooperative (the “Co-op”) (collectively, “Petitioners”), Appellants below and Plaintiffs in the trial court, are the petitioning parties.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of *Davis et al. v. Cox et al.*, Court of Appeals No. 71360-4-1 (April 7, 2014), a published decision affirming orders denying Petitioners’ motion for discovery; striking Petitioners’ complaint under the Washington Act Limiting Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation, RCW 4.24.525 (“525” or “Anti-SLAPP Act”); and awarding Respondents \$232,325 in attorneys’ fees, costs, and statutory sanctions under RCW 4.24.525(6)(a)(ii).¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should the legislature be permitted to enact a statute that (a) conflicts with *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009) , by violating the separation of powers doctrine and constitutional guarantee of a right of access to the courts; and (b) imposes an unconstitutionally vague burden of proof?

¹ Copies of the Court of Appeals’ decision; the trial court’s order striking Petitioners’ complaint (CP 1194-96); the trial court’s order denying Petitioners’ cross-motion for discovery (CP 1192-93); the trial court’s order granting Respondents’ motion for attorneys’ fees, costs, and statutory sanctions (CP 1246-61); the final order and judgment; and RCW 4.24.525 are attached hereto in the Appendix.

2. Given the presumption that a party opposing summary judgment has full discovery rights, did the appeals court err in relying on the standard for a continuance under CR 56(f) to conclude the discovery stay and good cause exception under .525(5)(c) are constitutional?

3. Did the legislature intend (a) for .525 to apply to meritorious claims alleging misconduct by corporate directors and (b) for the term “based on action involving public participation and petition” (.525(2)) to encompass conduct that is not directly, and at most tangentially, related to speech—where both results would chill the right to petition by threatening potential plaintiffs with crushing sanctions?

4. Does the Court of Appeals’ decision conflict with *Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC*, 316 P.3d 1119, 1143 (Wash. Ct. App. 2014), which holds that in determining whether claims are “based on an action involving public participation and petition” under .525(2), courts must “view the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party”?

5. Where corporate directors deliberately violate governing policies, including bylaws, and later try (but fail) to amend a policy they violated to make it comport with their action, do factual disputes exist as to whether they breached fiduciary duties and acted unlawfully?

6. Does a trial court abuse its discretion by denying all discovery under .525(5)(c) if factual disputes exist regarding key issues?

7. In a valid derivative action under the Nonprofit Act, RCW 24.03.040(2), may fees and penalties be awarded against the representative plaintiffs?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents the question of whether corporate directors may violate their fiduciary duties and a corporation's governing rules, and then punish the members/shareholders who challenge their actions with crushing penalties under the Anti-SLAPP Act. RCW 4.24.525. The Court of Appeals' decision, which answered this question in the affirmative, will undoubtedly intimidate prospective plaintiffs, upon whom the mere threat of an anti-SLAPP motion will have a chilling effect.

Respondents are current and former members of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Co-op who, in derogation of their fiduciary duties and numerous internal policies, compelled the Co-op to join a boycott of Israeli-made products and divestment from Israeli companies (the "Boycott"). CP 121-23. Petitioners, all long-time Co-op members and volunteers, sought to hold the Board accountable for its unauthorized and unlawful action by filing a verified derivative complaint in September 2011. CP 6-18, 7, 296-97, 353-54, 356, 371-72, 374-75. Instead, the trial court dismissed their case under .525 and sanctioned them individually in the amount of \$232,325 in legal expenses and statutory penalties. *See App.* The Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal and awarded fees.²

² As of this filing, the Court of Appeals has not yet issued a fee award.

A. The Boycott Policy

The bylaws of the Co-op state that it is a “collectively managed, not-for-profit cooperative organization that relies on consensus decision making.” CP 56. In 1993, the Board adopted strict procedures by which the Co-op would join product boycotts (the “Boycott Policy”):

BOYCOTT POLICY

Whenever possible, the Olympia Food Co-op will *honor nationally recognized boycotts* which are called for reasons that are compatible with our goals and mission statement...
...

A request to honor a boycott ... will be referred ... to determine which products and departments are affected.... The [affected] department manager will make a written recommendation to *the staff who will decide by consensus whether or not to honor a boycott....*
...

The department manager will post a sign informing customers *of the staff's decision* ... regarding the boycott. *If the staff decides to honor a boycott*, the M.C. will notify the boycotted company or body of our decision ...

CP 106 (emphasis added). Under the Boycott Policy’s plain language, the Co-op can join a boycott only if two tests are met: (1) there is an existing, nationally recognized boycott; and (2) Co-op staff approve the boycott proposal by consensus (i.e., universal agreement). *Id.*

The Co-op assiduously followed the Boycott Policy until July 2010, when the Board disregarded it and compelled the Co-op to join the Israel Boycott. CP 121-23. As courts below recognized, the Board did so despite a lack of staff consensus (CP 252, 986; Op. 3), and in the absence of a nationally recognized boycott. CP 347-52, 990; Op. 13. Having

ignored the Co-op's own rules and procedures, including the bylaws, and recognizing it had a *duty* "to adopt major policy changes," CP 41 ¶ 10, the Board then tried to modify the Boycott Policy to "clarify the role of the Board"—i.e., make the Boycott Policy retroactively consistent with actions the Board had already taken. It failed, which further demonstrates the Board breached its fiduciary obligations when it decided to consider the Boycott.

B. Procedural History

Petitioners claims on behalf of the Co-op were that the Board violated its fiduciary duties, CP 6-18, by enacting the Boycott in derogation of the Co-op's rules and policies. Petitioners sought declaratory and injunctive relief, and nominal damages. *Id.* Respondents countered with a motion to dismiss under .525 or CR 12, supported by declarations and exhibits.³ CP 39-274, 419-551. Petitioners responded and cross-moved for relief from the automatic discovery stay (*see* .525(5)(c)). They sought only limited document production and two depositions. CP 310-35, 362-66. The trial court granted Respondents' motion, denied Petitioners' cross-motion, and ordered the representative plaintiffs to pay a \$10,000 penalty and reasonable litigation expenses to each Respondent. CP 1238-42, 1246-61. The Court of Appeals affirmed these rulings.

³ Respondents' CR 12 motion argued that Petitioners lacked standing to bring a derivative action. CP 258-67. The trial court rejected that argument, Respondents did not appeal, and the Court of Appeals did not address it. CP 1251; *see* CP 975.

C. The Anti-SLAPP Act

A party filing an anti-SLAPP motion in Washington must show “by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on an action involving public participation and petition.” .525(4)(b) (referred to herein as “step one” of the Anti-SLAPP Act). If the movant meets its burden, “the burden shifts to the responding party to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.” *Id.* (referred to herein as “step two” of the Anti-SLAPP Act). Upon the filing an anti-SLAPP motion, all discovery is stayed and cannot proceed “except on motion and for good cause shown.” .525(5)(c).

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court may consider a decision by the Court of Appeals if it conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2); involves a “significant question of law” under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States, RAP 13.4(b)(3); or if the petition involves an “issue of substantial public interest” that should be determined by the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Petition meets each standard, particularly since the Court of Appeals’ decision expands the Anti-SLAPP Act to threaten potential plaintiffs with crushing sanctions and fee-shifting for pursuing meritorious claims, including, but by no means limited to, members or shareholders considering recourse against corporate directors for unlawful conduct.

A. Constitutional Violations

1. Conflicts With *Putman* and Its Progeny

In 2009, this Court struck down a statute analogous to .525. *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). *Putman* held that: (1) “[r]equiring plaintiffs to submit evidence supporting their claims prior to the discovery process violates the plaintiffs’ right of access to courts,” *id.* at 979; and (2) “[i]f a statute appears to conflict with a court rule” and “cannot be harmonized” with it, “the court rule will prevail in procedural matters,” *id.* at 980-81. For the same reasons, .525 is unconstitutional. Washington’s unique Anti-SLAPP Act, however, is *more* constitutionally infirm than the statute in *Putman*, because it both restricts discovery and contains a heightened burden of proof to avoid dismissal.

a) Separation of Powers

Like the statute at issue in *Putman*, .525 conflicts with the pleading, amendment, dismissal, and evidentiary burdens of CR 8, 11, 12(b), 15, and 56, as well as the right to full discovery under CR 26–34 & 56(f). In short, it conflicts fundamentally with the manner in which the Civil Rules determine whether a claim may proceed to discovery and, eventually, to trial. 166 Wn.2d at 983.⁴

⁴ Petitioners also challenged the constitutionality of .525’s heightened burden of proof and discovery stay as applied to this case. *See generally City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668-69, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). The Court of Appeals erroneously rejected both arguments. Given the relatively recent enactment of .525 and the increasing frequency with which .525 is being asserted in Washington courts, these as-applied challenges present “significant question of law” under the Washington State Constitution.

Because the offending provisions of .525 are procedural, not substantive, the separation of powers requires that the Judicial Branch (and the Civil Rules) prevail and the statute be struck down. *See Putman*, 166 Wn.2d at 980; *see also Verizon Delaware, Inc. v. Covad Commc'ns Co.*, 377 F.3d 1081, 1091 (9th Cir. 2004) (California's anti-SLAPP statute results in "a direct collision" with procedural rules regarding discovery and Fed. R. Civ. P. 56). As one federal court has held regarding .525:

The Washington legislature could have granted immunity that could be invoked through [Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 or 56] motions, similar to the immunity the Act grants under [RCW 4.24.510] ... [It] has instead imposed upon plaintiffs a burden of proof heavier than prescribed by [Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 & 56] and imposed upon the courts an obligation to make preliminary determinations on the merits based on materials outside of the pleadings in a manner that runs in direct conflict with [Fed. R. Civ. P.] 12(d).

Intercon Solutions, Inc. v. Basel Action Network, 969 F. Supp. 2d 1026, 1051-52 (N.D. Ill. 2013) (.525 may not be applied in diversity actions).⁵

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, the availability under .525(5)(c) of a mechanism to request discovery "for good cause" does not save it from violating the constitutional right of access to the courts. Op. 23-24 ("[T]he anti-SLAPP statutory requirement that good cause be shown imposes no greater burden than does CR 56(f) ...").⁶ A party

⁵ *See also Wright v. Colville Tribal Enter. Corp.*, 159 Wn.2d 108, 119, 147 P.3d 1275, 1282 (2006) (CR 12(b) "mirrors" its federal counterpart).

⁶ Also, the burdens are different under CR 56 and step two of .525 (a "genuine issue as to any material fact" as compared to "clear and convincing evidence [of] a probability" of prevailing.). Unlike a motion for summary judgment, "wherein the court does not resolve the merits of a disputed factual claim," the procedure in .525 requires the trial court "to

opposing summary judgment is presumed to have full discovery rights, and 56(f) merely provides a mechanism to seek a continuance if the non-moving party has been unable to obtain “facts essential to justify his opposition.” The “primary consideration” in a trial court’s decision under CR 56(f) is “justice,” and a trial court abuses its discretion by applying “time limitations” in a “draconian” manner. *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn. App. 499, 508, 784 P.2d 554, 560 (1990). By comparison, .525(5)(c) imposes a presumption of *no* discovery—despite the fact that the court is essentially charged under .525(4)(b) with resolving the merits of a plaintiff’s claims. *Opinion of the Justices*, 138 N.H. 445, 450-51, 641 A.2d 1012, 1015 (1994).

b) Access to the Courts

The Anti-SLAPP Act violates the right of access to the courts because it places a heightened evidentiary burden on a plaintiff before he becomes entitled to the broad discovery contemplated by the Civil Rules and protected by the Washington Constitution. As did the statute *Putman* struck down, it permits the dismissal with prejudice of meritorious claims. 166 Wn.2d at 979.

The Court of Appeals erroneously found .525 consistent with *Putman* based in part on its own decision in a TEDRA case, *In re Estate of Fitzgerald*, 172 Wn. App. 437, 294 P.3d 720 (2012), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1014 (2013). *Fitzgerald* is not applicable and, in any event, not

do exactly that.” *Opinion of the Justices*, 138 N.H. 445, 450-51, 641 A.2d 1012, 1015 (1994) (proposed anti-SLAPP legislation in New Hampshire violates the right to a jury trial).

binding on this Court. TEDRA actions are “special proceedings” and thus only marginally subject to the Civil Rules. RCW 11.96A.090(1), (4); CR 81(a). Thus *Putman*—which held in part that the “right of access to courts includes the right of discovery authorized by the *civil rules*,” 166 Wn.2d at 974 (emphasis added), was irrelevant to the court’s conclusion in *Fitzgerald*.

2. Vagueness

The Court of Appeals erroneously dismissed as a “non-sequitur” Petitioners’ argument that the burden of proof in step two of .525 (“clear and convincing evidence of a probability”)—which is unprecedented in Washington law and unique among anti-SLAPP statutes nationally⁷—is unconstitutionally vague. Simply put, even if a standard of proof is clear on its own does not mean, as the court concluded, that it is clear when *combined* with another such standard; e.g., “proof beyond a reasonable doubt of clear and convincing evidence of a probability.”

B. The Anti-SLAPP Act Does Not Apply to This Case

1. Holding Corporate Misconduct Involves “Public Participation and Petition” Will Chill Petition Rights

Under step one of .525, the moving party bears the burden of establishing that the plaintiff’s case “is based on an action involving public participation and petition”— a phrase that refers primarily to matters presented to government entities, but includes “lawful conduct in

⁷ Minn. Stat. § 554.02 uses a “clear and convincing” standard, but limits the definition of “public participation” to “speech or lawful conduct ... genuinely aimed in whole or in part at procuring favorable [American] government action.”

furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern[.]” .525(2)(e), (4)(b).

The gravamen of Petitioners’ complaint was that Respondents breached their fiduciary duties to the Co-op by “failing to follow [the corporation’s] governing rules, procedures, and principles.” CP 14 ¶ 51. Specifically, Petitioners alleged not that the result of the Board’s consideration of the Boycott was unlawful, but that the Board’s decision to ignore governing rules was. Indeed, Petitioners’ complaint expressly pled in part: “Plaintiffs have requested that the issues of boycotting and divesting from Israel be raised through a process that comports with OFC’s governing rules, procedures, and principles ... *Plaintiffs made clear that they are prepared to respect the outcome of such a process.*” CP 13 ¶ 45 (emphasis added). To analogize, if a corporate Board took action without a quorum, shareholders should be able to challenge such action as a breach of fiduciary duty. The *subject matter* of its decision does not cure the procedural defect.

The Court of Appeals mistakenly concluded that because the subject of the Board’s action was a boycott, that “the principal thrust of [Petitioners’] suit is to make the Directors cease engaging in activity protected by the First Amendment.” Op. 9-10. This significantly expands the application of .525, thereby threatening the right to petition under both the WASH. CONST. art. I, § 4 and U.S. CONST. amend. I. Also, in so ruling, the court disregarded key allegations in the complaint, mischaracterized the relief sought, drew inferences against Petitioners, and

mistakenly concluded that the Board's action was "in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech."⁸ In effect, the court ruled that corporate directors have unfettered power to disregard an entity's rules and procedures if constitutionally protected speech is even tangentially related to that procedural violation. That was error, particularly since the only protected "speech" at issue here is that of the Co-op, which was only compelled to "speak" as a result of Respondents' misconduct. As the California Supreme Court has held:

[T]he mere fact an action was filed after protected activity took place does not mean it arose from that activity. The anti-SLAPP statute cannot be read to mean that any claim asserted in an action which arguably was filed in retaliation for the exercise of speech or petition rights falls under [California's anti-SLAPP statute], whether or not the claim is *based on* conduct in exercise of those rights.

City of Cotati v. Cashman, 29 Cal. 4th 69, 76-77, 52 P.3d 695, 700 (2002)

(citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis original); *see also*

Donovan v. Dan Murphy Found., 204 Cal. App. 4th 1500, 1506-07, 140

Cal. Rptr. 3d 71, 76-77 (2012) ("The mere act of voting ... is insufficient

to demonstrate that conduct challenged ... arose from protected activity.").

The Court of Appeals' decision incorrectly rejected this analysis.

2. Conflicts With *Dillon*: Shifting the Burden to Petitioners and Drawing Inferences Against Them

In *Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC*, Division I held in part that, with respect to step one (not just step two), Washington courts

⁸ The burden in step one of the .525 analysis should have fallen on Respondents, but the Court of Appeals, as discussed further below, erroneously imposed it on Petitioners.

must “view the facts and *all* reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” 316 P.3d at 1143 (emphasis added). In this case, the court acknowledged that the Board’s failed effort to amend the Boycott Policy after its unlawful action was “open to any number of explanations.” Op. 16; CP 928 & n.3 (collecting citations). One of the obvious “explanations” for this—and a reasonable inference the court should have drawn in Petitioners’ favor—is that the Board knew its enactment of the Israel Boycott was unauthorized and unlawful, which is why it later tried to amend the Boycott Policy. To revisit the example above, if a corporate Board took action without a quorum, and then tried to amend the quorum rule to retroactively validate its action, an obvious inference would be that Board knew its original action was unauthorized and unlawful. Here, however, the appeals court refused to draw this inference.

Somewhat confusingly, the appeals court also rejected Petitioners’ “invitation to consider whether the Directors improperly adopted the boycott,” holding that because Respondents did not challenge the Board’s action as “illegal as a matter of law,” it was “lawful conduct” for purposes of step one of .525. Op. 11.⁹ It is unclear what the court meant by “illegal as a matter of law,” and its reliance on California law only adds to the confusion because that state’s anti-SLAPP statute does not impose a

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