RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jun 30, 2014, 12:01 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 90233-0

SUPREME COURT RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 71360-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KENT L. and LINDA DAVIS, JEFFREY and SUSAN TRININ, and SUSAN MAYER, derivatively on behalf of OLYMPIA FOOD COOPERATIVE,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

GRACE COX, ROCHELLE GAUSE, ERIN GENIA, T.J. JOHNSON, JAYNE KASZYNSKI, JACKIE KRZYZEK, JESSICA LAING, RON LAVIGNE, HARRY LEVINE, ERIC MAPES, JOHN NASON, JOHN REGAN, ROB RICHARDS, SUZANNE SHAFER, JULIA SOKOLOFF, and JOELLEN REINECK WILHELM,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court will accept review of an appeal "only ... if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court ... [or] another decision of the Court of Appeals," if "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved," or "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4. Petitioners have not satisfied any of these standards.

The Legislature has declared "[i]t is in the public interest for citizens to participate in matters of public concern." S.B. 6395, 61st Leg., 2010 Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2010). To further that interest, it enacted RCW 4.24.525 to curb "lawsuits brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional right[] of freedom of speech and petition..." (i.e., "Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation," or SLAPPs). S.B.

6395, 61st Leg., 2010 Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2010). SLAPPs "are typically dismissed as groundless or unconstitutional, but often not before the defendants are put to great expense, harassment, and interruption of their productive activities," deterring them from "fully exercising their constitutional rights." *Id.* Because this is precisely such a lawsuit, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's dismissal.

Petitioners claim application of the anti-SLAPP statute will chill (baseless) lawsuits like theirs. Pet. at 3. That is exactly what it was meant to do. The claims target free speech and lack merit. Denying review would advance—not undermine—free speech through expedited dismissal of this punitive lawsuit brought to chill constitutional rights.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision *Promotes* the Public Interest By Applying the Anti-SLAPP Statute to a Lawsuit Seeking to Enjoin a Boycott.

Under the anti-SLAPP law, "[a] moving party ... has the initial burden of showing by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 4.24.525(4)(b); see also Alaska Structures, Inc. v. Hedlund, ___ Wn. App. ___, 323 P.3d 1082, 1085 (2014). This "includes" any "lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern, or in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition." RCW 4.24.525(2)(e). The Legislature directed that the law be "construed liberally." S.B. 6395, 61st Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2010).

Petitioners do not challenge the Court of Appeals' finding that a boycott is protected First Amendment activity. Op. at 9. (citing NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886, 914-15 (1982)). Nor do they (or could they) disagree that a boycott of Israel involves "an issue of public concern." Op. at 10.² Petitioners asked the courts to "permanently enjoin the ... Board from enforcing or otherwise abiding by the ... Boycott." CP 16. In other words, they sought to stop a boycott, a boycott they admit is an exercise of First Amendment rights on a matter of public concern. See Op. at 9-10. The anti-SLAPP law—designed to deter lawsuits "brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional right[] of freedom of speech"—plainly applies. See Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (directing "courts to consider legislative purposes or policies appearing on the face of the statute as part of the statute's context").

The undisputed facts reinforce this conclusion. The Board approved the Boycott in July 2010. CP 45. Although it invited dissenting members to challenge the decision, no one did. CP 181-82, 239. That fall, Petitioners lost their bid for seats on the Board after advocating an anti-Boycott platform, to candidates who supported the Boycott. CP 181. Angered, they threatened "complicated, burdensome, and expensive"

² Indeed, since the 2010 Co-op vote, the boycott movement has grown. Just a week ago, the Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.) voted at its general assembly to divest from three U.S. companies that supply Israel with equipment used to enforce the occupation of Palestinian territories. Laurie Goodstein, *Presbyterians Vote to Divest Holdings to Pressure Israel*, N.Y. Times, June 20, 2014, at A1.

litigation and to hold each director personally liable. CP 303-05. When Respondents refused to rescind the Boycott, this litigation ensued. Plainly the Boycott is the target and gravamen of Petitioners' lawsuit.

Petitioners do not dispute that the Court of Appeals used the correct test, i.e., looking to the gravamen or thrust of their claims. Instead, they claim it misapplied the standard, because "the gravamen" was that Respondents "fail[ed] to follow [the corporation's] governing rules, procedures, and principles." Pet. at 11. Petitioners also argue the Court of Appeals "disregard[ed] key allegations in the complaint." Pet. at 11. But the anti-SLAPP statute requires just that and applies to all claims, "however characterized," targeting public participation and petition.

RCW 4.24.525(2). It provides that "the court *shall* consider pleadings and supporting and opposing affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based." RCW 4.24.525(4)(c) (emphasis added).³

Moreover, looking to the "gravamen" or "principal thrust" of a claim requires looking *beyond* the face of the complaint, as the Court of Appeals did here. If, as Petitioners claim, a court were bound by their allegations and proffered basis for their lawsuit, Pet. at 11, no one would qualify for protection under the anti-SLAPP law. A clever plaintiff need allege only a defendant committed an unlawful act to evade the statute.

³ Petitioners cite *Henne v. City of Yakima*, 177 Wn. App. 583, 586, 313 P.3d 1188 (2013), review granted, 179 Wn.2d 1022 (2014), to argue the anti-SLAPP law does not apply here, just as it did not apply in that case. But *Henne* concerns an officer's claims about his demotion. This lawsuit concerns a boycott, undisputedly an exercise of free speech.

Given that SLAPP plaintiffs by definition seek to abuse the judicial process, they are likely to tailor their pleadings to avoid the law.

California courts have rejected similar tactics. For example, the California Court of Appeal applied the California anti-SLAPP statute to an employee's claims that CBS discriminated against him based on gender and age when it failed to make him a weather anchor. See Hunter v. CBS Broad. Inc., 221 Cal. App. 4th 1510 (2013) (reversing denial of anti-SLAPP motion; remanding for decision on probability of prevailing). The plaintiff claimed "the 'gravamen' of his claims 'was discrimination rather than free speech." Id. at 1517, 1521-22. The court found this argument "confuses the conduct underlying Hunter's claim—CBS's employment decisions—with the purportedly unlawful motive underlying that conduct—employment discrimination." Id. at 1522. "[W]hen assessing whether claims arise from protected activity, courts must distinguish between the acts underlying a plaintiff's causes of action and the claimed illegitimacy of those acts, which is an issue the plaintiff must raise ... to provide a prima facie showing of the merits." Id. (alterations omitted).

The same is true here. Petitioners claim they are not targeting the Boycott, but the Board's alleged failure to follow its own rules in adopting it. See Pet. at 11. As in *Hunter*, this confuses the underlying act—the Board's adoption of the Boycott—with the purported illegitimacy of the

⁴ Washington modeled its anti-SLAPP statute after California's law, and its courts look to California law to interpret RCW 4.24.525. See Alaska Structures, 323 P.3d at 1085; Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc., 738 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1110 (W.D. Wash. 2010).

Boycott—its authority to adopt the Boycott. Because the Boycott is an act of public participation, the anti-SLAPP law applies. See Greater L.A.

Agency on Deafness, Inc. v. Cable News Network, Inc., 742 F.3d 414, 423

(9th Cir. 2014) (rejecting effort "to elude the scope of the anti-SLAPP" law with "attempts to frame [] action as targeting CNN's 'refusal to caption its online videos' rather than '[its] presentation ... of the news'").

In a burst of hyperbole, Petitioners claim the Court of Appeals "[i]n effect ... ruled that corporate directors have unfettered power to disregard an entity's rules and procedures if" protected speech is involved. Pet. at 12. As the *Hunter* court reasoned, "[t]his argument ... is predicated on the fallacy that the anti-SLAPP statute allows a defendant to escape the consequences of wrongful conduct by asserting a spurious First Amendment defense." 221 Cal. App. 4th at 1525. But the law in fact allows all claims with merit to proceed. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b).

Petitioners also argue the Court of Appeals erred in finding the anti-SLAPP law applies by failing to "infer[] ... that Board [sic] knew its original action was unauthorized and unlawful," Pet. at 13, in conflict with the requirement in *Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC* that the court view all facts in their favor, 179 Wn. App. 41, 90, 316 P.3d 1119, 1132 (2014), review granted, 180 Wn.2d 1009. Pet. at 12-13. Even if this is true (it is not⁵), even assuming *Dillon* stood for this proposition (the

⁵ To support this claim, Petitioners argue that the Board later attempted to amend the Boycott Policy to affirm its authority. Pet. at 13. As the Court of Appeals found, many

language cited is *dicta*, 179 Wn. App. at 90), and even if this Court might endorse that view, it does not matter here. The Board's subjective belief about whether it could approve a boycott has no bearing on the applicability of the anti-SLAPP statute: What *does* matter is whether the Boycott was in furtherance of the right of free speech on a matter of public concern. Undisputedly it was. Thus, even assuming someone on the Board later had concerns about its authority to approve the Boycott, the anti-SLAPP law would still apply.

Nor did the Court of Appeals err by finding Respondents' acts were "lawful" within the meaning of "lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public concern." See Pet. at 13. As the court noted, the term "lawful" does not require an assessment of the merits when deciding, initially, whether the anti-SLAPP law applies: "If, as part of our review under the first step, we accepted the Members' invitation to consider whether the Directors improperly adopted the boycott, the second step would be rendered superfluous and the burden of proof would be improperly shifted." Op. at 11 (citing Chavez v. Mendoza, 94 Cal. App. 4th 1083, 1089 (2001)). See also Glaubach v. Regence BlueShield, 149 Wn.2d 827, 833-34, 74 P.3d 115 (2003) (counseling against "readings of statutes that result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences"). But

reasons could have motivated such discussions—including the desire to avoid conflicts. See ER 407 ("subsequent measures" not admissible to prove "culpable conduct").

even if "lawful" *did* require an assessment of the merits, Respondents had the legal authority to adopt the Boycott under the Co-op's governing documents, as the Court of Appeals found. *See infra* at IV.B.

Petitioners find it "confusing[]" that the Court of Appeals relied on California law to find "lawful" excludes only conduct that is "illegal as a matter of law" because the California statute, unlike Washington's, does not use the word "lawful." Pet. at 13-14. But the California law applies to the "valid" exercise of constitutional rights, and it is in that context that courts have repeatedly rejected the same argument made here—that a court must decide whether speech or conduct is "valid" before applying the law. Navellier v. Sletten, 29 Cal. 4th 82, 94-95, 52 P.3d 703 (2002). This would "plac[e] the cart before the horse" and "confuse[] the threshold question of whether the SLAPP statute [potentially] applies with the question whether [an opposing plaintiff] has established a probability of success on the merits." M.F. Farming, Co. v. Couch Distrib. Co., 207 Cal. App. 4th 180, 195-96 (2012) (citations omitted).

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision *Promotes* the Public Interest By Dismissing a Meritless Claim Targeting Protected Speech.

Because the Boycott is an act of public participation, RCW 4.24.525(b)(4) required Petitioners to show by "clear and convincing evidence" a "probability" of prevailing on their claims. *See also Aronson*, 738 F. Supp. 2d at 1112. Washington and California courts have likened this burden to summary judgment. *Spratt v. Toft*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 324

P.3d 707, 715 (2014) ("the clear and convincing evidence of a probability of prevailing on a claim is applied in a manner similar to the summary judgment standard"); Stewart v. Rolling Stone LLC, 181 Cal. App. 4th 664, 679 (2010). Petitioners failed to adduce any evidence, let alone clear and convincing evidence, sufficient to survive summary judgment.

Petitioners claim the Board was obligated but failed to follow the Boycott Policy. Pet. at 15-19. Even assuming this were true (it is not), the Board had no such obligation. This follows from two well-established—indeed, centuries-old—principles of corporate governance.

First, the decision to approve the Boycott is a management decision within the exclusive province of the Board. Pursuant to the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act, "[t]he affairs of a corporation shall be managed by a board of directors." RCW 24.03.095. See also RCW 24.03.005(7) (defining board of directors as "the group of persons vested with the management of the affairs of the corporation"). It is therefore hornbook corporate law that the "the authority of the directors is absolute when they act within the law, and questions of policy ... are, in the absence of nonfeasance, misfeasance, or malfeasance, left wholly to their decision." 5 Fletcher Cyc. Corp. § 2100.

The Co-op's Bylaws reinforce this conclusion. "[I]n interpreting ... bylaws, [courts] will apply general principles of contract law, including the principle that words used therein will be given their ordinary meaning unless a different meaning is clearly intended." *Davenport v. Elliott Bay*

Plywood Mach.s Co., 30 Wn. App. 152, 154, 632 P.2d 76 (1981) (citation omitted). The Bylaws state: "the business and affairs of the Cooperative shall be directed by the Board of Directors." CP 58. Adoption of a boycott is a "business" or "affair." Moreover, the Bylaws provide a list of "major duties" "included" in the Board's responsibilities. One of those duties is to "adopt major policy changes." Thus, the Board had the power to adopt, amend, or rescind its Boycott Policy.

Violating core tenets of the business judgment rule, Petitioners demand a ruling that Respondents misinterpreted the Bylaws' "major policy change" provision and two others: the duty to "promote achievement of the mission statement and goals" of the Co-op, and the staff's duty to "carry out Board decisions." As the Court of Appeals found, none of these provisions says anything about, much less "mandate[s,] that the board comply with adopted policy changes." Op. at 14.7 Nor does the Boycott Policy itself "contain any language that obligates the board to adhere to it once adopted." *Id.* Thus, "although adopting the Policy presented an opportunity for staff involvement, the board did not relinquish its ultimate authority to adopt boycotts pursuant to its general authority to manage the Co-op." *Id.* at 15.

⁶ The case Petitioners cite for the proposition that bylaw interpretation "presents questions of fact," Save Columbia CU Committee v. Columbia Community Credit Union, 134 Wn. App. 175, 181, 139 P.3d 386 (2006), merely confirms that "[i]n interpreting an organization's bylaws, [courts] apply contract law."

⁷ To the contrary, the Boycott *furthers* the Co-op's mission "to encourage economic and social justice." CP 56 (Bylaws); CP 53 (mission statement).

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